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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA INDICTMENT

. 25-CR-45
- against — Cr. No.
(T. 18, U.S.C., §§ 554(a), 981(a)(1)(C),
SERGEI ZHARNOVNIKOV, 2 and 3551 et seq.; T. 21, US.C,, §
853(p); T. 28, U.S.C., § 2461(c); T.
Defendant. 50, U.S.C., §§ 4819(a)(1),
4819(a)(2)(A)-(G), 4819(b),
4819(d)(1) and 4819(d)(2); T. 15,
C.FR, §§ 736.2(b)(1), 746.8(a)(l) and
764.2)

Judge Eric. N. Vitaliano
THE GRAND JURY CHARGES: Magistrate Taryn A. Merkl

COUNT ONE
(Conspiracy to Violate the ECRA)

1. In or about and between March 2020 and January 2025, both dates being
approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendant
SERGEI ZHARNOVNIKOV, together with others, did knowingly and willfully conspire to
violate and to cause one or more violations of licenses, orders, regulations and prohibitions
issued under the Export Control Reform Act, Title 50, United States Code, Sections 4810 et seq.

2. It was a part and an object of the conspiracy that the defendant
SERGEI ZHARNOVNIKOV, together with others, would and did agree to export and reexport
and cause to be exported and reexported from the United States to Russia items on the

Commerce Control List, as set forth in Title 15, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 774,



Supplement Number 1, without having first obtained a license for such export from the U.S.
Department of Commerce.

(Title 50, United States Code, Sections 4819(a)(1), 4819(a)(2)(A)~(G) and
4819(b); Title 18, United States Code, Sections 3551 et seq.; Title 15, Code of Federal
Regulations, Sections 736.2(b)(1), 746.8(a)(1) and 764.2)

COUNT TWO
(Smuggling Goods from the United States)

3. On or about July 10, 2022, within the Eastern District of New York and
elsewhere, the defendant SERGEI ZHARNOVNIKOV, together with others, did knowingly and
fraudulently export and send from the United States, merchandise, articles and objects, to wit:
items on the Commerce Control List set forth in Title 15, Code of Federal Regulations, part 774,
Supplement Number 1, contrary to United States laws and regulations, to wit: Title 50, United
States Code, Sections 4801-4852, and Title 15, Code of Federal Regulations Parts 30 and
730-774, and did fraudulently and knowingly receive, conceal and facilitate the transportation
and concealment of such merchandise, articles and objects, prior to exportation, knowing the
same to be intended for exportation contrary to such United States laws and regulations.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 554(a), 2 and "3551Aet seq.)

CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION
AS TO COUNT ONE

4. The United States hereby gives notice to the defendant that, upon his
conviction of the offense charged in Count One, the government will seek forfeiture in
accordance with Title 50, United States Code, Section 4819(d)(1), which requires any person
convicted of such offense to forfeit any of the person’s property: (a) used or intended to be used,
in any manner, to commit or facilitate the offense; (b) constituting or traceable to the gross

proceeds taken, obtained, or retained, in connection with or as a result of the offense; and/or (¢)



constituting an item or technology that was exported or intended to be exported in violation of
the Export Control Reform Act.
5. If any of the above-described forfeitable property, as a result of any act or
omission of the defendant:
(@) cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;
(b)  has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;
(¢)  has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court;
(d has been substantially diminished in value; or
(e) has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided
without difficulty;
it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), as
incorporated by Title 50, United States Code, Section 4819(d)(2), to seek forfeiture of any other
property of the defendant up to the value of the forfeitable property described in this forfeiture
allegation.
(Title 50, United States Code, Sections 4819(d)(1) and 4819(d)(2); Title 21,
United States Code, Section 853(p))

CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION
AS TO COUNT TWO

6. The United States hereby gives notice to the defendant that, upon his
conviction of the offense charged in Count Two, the government will seek forfeiture in
accordance with Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States
Code, Section 2461(c), which require any person convicted of such offense to forfeit any
property, real or personal, constituting, or derived from, proceeds obtained directly or indirectly

as a result of such offense.



7. If any of the above-described forfeitable property, as a result of any act or
omission of the defendant:
(@) cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;
(b)  has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;
(©) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court;
(d)  has been substantially diminished in value; or
(e) has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided
without difficulty;
it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), to
seek forfeiture of any other property of the defendant up to the value of the forfeitable property
described in this forfeiture allegation.
(Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C); Title 21, United States Code,

Section 853(p); Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c))
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